

        

            

                

            

        




    

    




    [image: The cover of the recommended book]


History of Cambridge, Massachusetts, 1630-1877, Volume 1



Paige, Lucius R.

9783849651091

752

Buy now and read (Advertising)

The "History of Cambridge" was originally published in 1877. Besides the historical narrative in this volume, the second volume contains a very full and carefully compiled "Genealogical Register" of the early settlers and their descendants. These volumes are, in the most essential respects, models of what a town history should be. They contain the most important information obtainable from the sources then open to the author, and this is presented in a clear and concise narrative. In the estimation of those most competent to pass judgment, these volumes are authorities. But they are something more than authorities. They not only instruct; they inspire. Nobody deserves the privilege of growing up in this city who does not make himself familiar with these books. They are epitomes of the history, not only of this town, but of a good many other Puritan towns. It fills this place with memories of by-gone scenes and deeds which were precious to the people of those times, and are precious still to us, their descendants or successors.

Buy now and read (Advertising)




[image: The cover of the recommended book]


Atlantis, The Antediluvian World



Donnelly, Ignatius

9783849644345

309

Buy now and read (Advertising)

This book created somewhat of a sensation in the literary and scientific world. Mr. Donnelly argues that Plato's story was true; that all the ancient civilizations of Europe and America radiated from this ancient kingdom, and that this is the reason we find pyramids, obelisks, and buildings almost Identically alike in Egypt, Mexico and Peru. Donnelly's statements and ample evidence deliver ample evidence for the existence of the continent of Atlants. This book is a must have for all folklorists and people, who are interested in the possible history of a famous nation.

Buy now and read (Advertising)




[image: The cover of the recommended book]


Roughing It



Twain, Mark

9783849643874

559

Buy now and read (Advertising)

"Roughing It" is another one of Mark Twain's chronicles of his wandering years, this one being the prequel to "Innocents Abroad." His adventures take place in the Wild West, Salt Lake City and even in Hawaii - among other places. He even enlists as a Confederate cavalryman for some time. The book is also a prolific example for Twain's excellent sense of humour.

Buy now and read (Advertising)




[image: The cover of the recommended book]


The Ministry Of Healing



White, Ellen Gould

9783849646424

356

Buy now and read (Advertising)

The Ministry of Healing, perhaps one of the best books ever written by Mrs. White, offers a wealth of information on the laws of life, how to cure diseases, how to stay healthy and how to heal the soul. It is important to understand the spiritual side of health, and this is where Mrs. White is the expert at. From the contents: Chapter 1 - Our Example Chapter 2 - Days of Ministry Chapter 3 - With Nature and With God Chapter 4 - The Touch of Faith Chapter 5 - Healing of the Soul Chapter 6 - Saved to Serve Chapter 7 - The Co-Working of the Divine and the Human Chapter 8 - The Physician, an Educator Chapter 9 - Teaching and Healing Chapter 10 - Helping the Tempted Chapter 11 - Working for the Intemperate Chapter 12 - Help for the Unemployed and the Homeless Chapter 13 - The Helpless Poor Chapter 14 - Ministry to the Rich ...

Buy now and read (Advertising)




[image: The cover of the recommended book]


On War



von Clausewitz, Carl

9783849651725

1028

Buy now and read (Advertising)

'On War' is a book on war and military strategy. It was written shortly after the Napoleonic Wars by the Prussian general Carl von Clausewitz. It is one of the most important treatises on political-military analysis and strategy ever written, and even today it remains both controversial and an influence on strategic thinking. This edition comprises all eight books.

Buy now and read (Advertising)









 




 




The History of

Concord, Massachusetts




 




ALFRED SERENO

HUDSON




 




 













 




 




The History of Concord, Massachusetts, A. Sereno Hudson




Jazzybee

Verlag Jürgen Beck




86450

Altenmünster, Loschberg 9




Deutschland




 




ISBN:

9783849653286




 




www.jazzybee-verlag.de




admin@jazzybee-verlag.de




 




 




 










CONTENTS:




PREFACE.. 1




PART I. STORY OF THE

SETTLEMENT  OF CONCORD, MASS. 3




CHAPTER I. 3




CHAPTER II. 8




CHAPTER III. 14




CHAPTER IV. 18




CHAPTER V. 24




CHAPTER VI. 28




CHAPTER VII. 33




CHAPTER VIII. 37




CHAPTER IX. 42




CHAPTER X. 47




CHAPTER XI. 52




CHAPTER XII. 57




CHAPTER XIII. 62




CHAPTER XIV. 68




CHAPTER XV. 73




CHAPTER XVI. 77




CHAPTER XVII. 88




CHAPTER XVIII. 94




CHAPTER XIX. 101




CHAPTER XX. 108




CHAPTER XXI. 115




CHAPTER XXII. 122




CHAPTER XXIII. 128




CHAPTER XXIV. 134




CHAPTER XXV. 141




CHAPTER XXVI. 146




CHAPTER XXVII. 152




 




PART II. HISTORY OF THE

SETTLEMENT  OF CONCORD, MASS. 1654-1692  157




CHAPTER XXVIII. 157




CHAPTER XXIX.. 162




CHAPTER XXX.. 168




CHAPTER XXXI. 173




CHAPTER XXXII. 182




CHAPTER XXXIII. 185




CHAPTER XXXIV. 191




CHAPTER XXXV. 197




CHAPTER XXXVI. 204




CHAPTER XXXVII. 210




CHAPTER XXXVIII. 217




CHAPTER XXXIX. 226




CHAPTER XL. 235




CHAPTER XLI. 240




CHAPTER XLII. 252




CHAPTER XLIII. 260




CHAPTER XLIV.. 266




CHAPTER XLV.. 273



















PREFACE 





The town

of Concord is probably as attractive in historical features as any in this

country. Its early connection with the American Revolution; its association

with the life and works of Emerson, Hawthorne, Thoreau and other distinguished

authors; and its having formerly been the County Seat of old Middlesex all

contribute to make the place notable. It is thronged annually with thousands of

visitors, some mere sightseers, some seeking inspiration from the shrines visited,

some to say they have been to Concord.




The

History of Concord written by Lemuel Shattuck and published in 1835, is not now

easily obtainable. Only a few copies, if any, of the work of Charles H.

Walcott, Esq., remain unsold; and the historical sketches of Rev. Grindall

Reynolds, D. D., and the Hon. John S. Keyes were written for the Histories of

Middlesex County, which are too bulky and expensive for common use.




Besides

these standard works, nothing that we are aware of has been published of the

town's consecutive annals, except occasional pamphlets and addresses. Because

of these things we believe an available History may be desirable, and by the

preparation of these pages we have sought to supply it.




The work

is designed to be in two volumes; the first entitled Colonial Concord: the

second, Provincial Concord.




Volume I

includes the annals of the town from its origin in 1635, until 1692, at which

time the Massachusetts Bay Colony became a Province, together with brief

biographical sketches of the original grantees.




Volume

II. will include the annals from 1692 through the Provincial period to the

close of the Revolutionary war.




Volume I

is divided into two parts. The first contains the story of the settlement

setting forth the leading facts in the town's history, so far as known, to the

year 1655.




In this

portion of the work the writer has employed both fact and fiction; but in such

a manner as to enable the reader easily to distinguish the one from the other.

This method has been adopted because many of the early records were lost, and

it is designed to supply the deficiency, as relates to manners and customs, by

conjecture based on analogy as these were known to exist in other towns at the

same time.




The

second part is pure history. The facts are mainly given in chronological order

and to a large extent set forth by copies of original records and ancient

papers with references to the places where they are found.




A work

on local history to be in the highest degree instructive should be more than a

mere compilation of dates, statistics, and isolated facts, valuable only to

antiquaries and genealogists. It should have such a background or setting of

general history as will give the reader an intelligent understanding of the

causes and results of the local events described.




For this

reason, in instances where an occurrence is prominently connected with events

in the country at large, the latter have been sufficiently described to show

the relationship of one to the other.




No claim

is made to great original research. The field of Concord history has been too

carefully harvested in the past, to leave much opportunity for the gleaner to

gather new sheaves, or to find much rich aftermath. We have collected our

material from every available source whether of records, manuscript,

publication or tradition. We have avoided dogmatic assertion and have intended

to state hypothetically whatever is doubtful or unsettled.




Prominent

among the writers of local history from whom we have quoted are those of Lemuel

Shattuck, Charles E. Walcott, Esq. Rev. Grindall Reynolds, D. D. Hon John S.

Keyes, and Albert E. Wood. We have also received valuable suggestions from the

late Alfred Hosmer, and are also indebted to the historian, Rev. G. M. Bodge,

to the Littleton Historical Society, and others whose services have been kindly

proffered and gratefully received.




That the

work is free from errors it would be presumption to assert. No prudent writer

of local history would make pretense to this. Neither do any who are charitably

disposed and have had experience in the difficult work of the local annalist

presume to judge the work of another from the standpoint of perfect accuracy.

There are many subjects which will always be matters of doubt and controversy.




Evidence

considered admissible by some might be rejected by others; and cases may occur

when the evidence is considered about equal on either side.




This

work has been written from the position of one who has great reverence for the

religious faith of the fathers, and who recognizes in this faith a strong

factor in whatever of greatness has accrued to us, as a Nation.




And if

bringing out the facts, many of which are too little known, shall lead to a

higher appreciation of the fathers and of the faith that made them what they

were, one great object of the author will be accomplished.




A. S. H.


















 




PART I. STORY OF THE SETTLEMENT OF CONCORD,

MASS.




CHAPTER I.




A

traveler's visit to an early homestead at Concord, Massachusetts — Scene at a

Settler s fireside — Company expected—Strange sounds and sights talked about —

Town Meeting topics discussed — Description of Concord in the present — Objects

of Historic Interest — The North Bridge — Houses of the Revolutionary Period —

The Wright Tavern — First Parish Meeting House—The Antiquarian House — Meriam

's Corner.




 




THE fire

flickered and the sparks flew up the broad chimney, as a traveler sat on a fall

evening before the half-burnt backlog, in Goodman Hartwell's snug farm-house in

Concord town about two centuries and a half ago.




It was

evident from the appearance of things that company was expected, for besides

the usual oaken settle and chairs there were standing about sundry stools and a

long, low bench. Presently a sound was heard at the door as if someone were

fumbling for the latchstring, and as it opened several neighbors entered and

also Goodmen Buttrick and Heald from the North quarter and Miles and Dakin from

the South. A little later, Parson Peter Bulkeley arrived with the Gobble boys

who had come from down by the river bay in an oxcart and having overtaken the

minister had brought him along.




While

waiting for others to come, various subjects were talked about, among which

were some strange noises which Colonial Goody Dean said she "heerd near

the buryin ground."




 Some

said they were made by an earthquake, others suggested a landslide, but these

explanations did not satisfy Duty, who declared that "the sounds ware

above the airth, not under it nor inside it. Besides," said she, "the

milk has soured twice sence I heerd them so I think the cows heerd them too fur

they feed there."




 The

matter being referred to the minister he said, after a moment's reflection,

"Such things being unusual contain a lesson and should lead us to be

circumspect and careful in our conduct." He was about to say more but was

interrupted by a faint rap at the back door which was at the end of a low entry

under the lean-to roof.




Goodman

Hartwell snatched from the mantlepiece a save-all on which a short candle stub

sputtered and going out soon returned with Goody Rice who had come across lots

for an evening call. The newcomer created a fresh breeze of excitement for she

confirmed what Duty had said of the queer noises, and also told about a strange

creature which had several times been seen near the "great meadows,"

sometimes looking like a man and sometimes like a goat, but always vanishing

when approached.




It was

at once agreed that since the strange sight and sounds were at about the same

time they might have the same cause, and as the matter was a serious one it was

thought wise before considering it further to wait till others came in,

"For," said Ensign Hosmer who had just entered, "there's some up

our way who've heerd things, and I consait seen things too, and perhaps the

creature is the 'specter wolf folks have talked of."




 The

further time of waiting was mostly occupied in talking over the condition of

Dame Smeadley, who, Goodman Farwell who had just visited her said, was

"low and languishing and much in need of the physic and paynes of the

chirugeon."




When a

sufficient number had come in to begin business all other subjects were soon

dropped and the business of the evening was entered upon, which consisted of an

informal talk about things that were to be considered at a coming town meeting,

among which were matters connected with the cow commons, "the seating of

the meeting house,"




 and the

making of some new rules relative to strangers, it having been noised about

that one or two of these might become the town charge.




As each

new comer entered he was introduced to the traveler, and when it was understood

that he had journeyed all the way from Watertown to observe the customs,

manners, and ways of doing things of the people at the Musketequid plantation,

great interest was at once taken in him and a disposition was manifested to aid

him in every way possible.




Among

other marks of cordiality was the promptness with which they invited him to

their "housen," offering the freedom and hospitality of their

firesides and promising if he would set a time they would come for him.




The traveler

appeared pleased, and afterwards in accepting their invitations, sat at many

hearthstones listening to the sparks and gathering much of colonial lore and

pioneer experience of the settlers of Concord.




Before

narrating, however, what he heard and saw, we will speak of Concord as it is,

and briefly outline its earlier history. Concord, Massachusetts, is in

Middlesex County about twenty miles from Boston. It has a territorial area of

about fifteen miles and a population of between five and six thousand. It is

intersected from north to south by the New York, New Haven and Hartford

railroad and from east to west by the Fitchburg division of the Boston and

Maine. The Lexington branch of the latter road enters the town from the east,

terminating at Concord Junction near the Massachusetts Reformatory. The trolley

cars, also have found their way here, and rumble over the old roads and past

ancient homesteads; and where once the farm boy drove his herd afield amid the

quietness of nature, may now be seen strange vehicles, whose whizzing and

whirring show plainly that Concord is not exempt from modern progress.




The

Center or central village of Concord has a population of from two to three

thousand and contains approximately five hundred private residences. It has no

stores or shops beyond what are locally required; and more or less or its

inhabitants are those who in retirement have sought here a restful retreat, or

who, while doing business elsewhere, have made this their home. About midway of

the central village is a small common or public square. In this square is a

monument commemorative of the town's soldiers and sailors who died in the civil

war. Near the corner of the Common to the easterly where the road turns towards

the Battle Ground is the old County Court House where the District Court for

central Middlesex holds its sessions. Southerly of the Court House is the Town

House and on the opposite side to the westward is the old Registry of Deeds

building used for county purposes when Concord was a shire town. To the

northerly of the square is "The Colonial," a building associated with

the Revolutionary war and the family of Henry Thoreau.




The

places of interest in Concord are both historic and classic. Foremost among the

former is the site of the old North Bridge about a half mile from the public

square. By this spot several Provincial and British soldiers were killed April

19, 1775. The slain Americans were Capt. Isaac Davis and Abner Hosmer of the

Acton Minute Men and the Statue of the Minute Man designed by Daniel C. French

a Concord sculptor marks the spot on or near where they fell.




The

English soldiers slain were two in number. They were under the immediate

command of Lieut. Edward Thornton Gould and were of a detachment of three

companies under the command of Capt. Lawrie. 




The spot

where these soldiers fell and the British stood when they began firing upon the

Provincials just over the river is designated by a stone monument erected by

the town in 1836. Near this monument by the sidewalk protected in part by a

stonewall and in part by a simple chain fence are the graves of the two fallen

Britons.




The

locality of these monuments is called the "Battle Ground." The

original historic bridge was long since swept away by a river flood, and the

present one was erected for a memorial purpose.




A short

distance from the lane leading to the bridge on the road toward Concord center

is the old Jones house built in 1654, now the residence of John S. Keyes,

Justice of the Central Middlesex District Court. In this house there lived at

the time of the Concord fight Elisha Jones, an ardent patriot whose zeal was so

demonstrative on the retreat of the British that his house was made a target

of, and the accuracy of the Englishman's aim may still be seen by a bullet mark

in the east end.




About a

mile from the North Bridge stands the old Barrett house, the home in the

Revolutionary period of Col. James Barrett who commanded a regiment of

Middlesex militia.




To this

place a detachment of Regulars were sent under Capt. Lawrence Parsons by

Lieut.-Col. Smith, who with the main body of English soldiers were stationed at

the central village. In the door yard of this house the Britons burned a parcel

of Provincial cannon carriages and endeavored to discover and destroy other

public property.




Various

incidents are told of the doings of the Red Coats during their short stay about

the house, and of the Provincials who sought to foil them. It is said of the

aged mother of the Colonel that she would not seek for herself a place of

safety when told that the British were coming, but preferred to remain saying,

"I can't live long anyway and I'd rather stay and see that they don't burn

down the house and barn."




 As a

soldier seized a trunk containing some pewter plates she pluckily exclaimed,

"That is private property," upon which it was let alone. She also

expostulated with a British officer who had laid hold of Stephen, her grandson,

causing his release. When the hungry Britons asked for food she gave it saying,

"We are commanded in the Bible to feed our enemies," and when offered

money she said as she refused it, "It is the price of blood." In a

field near the premises the provincials had concealed some muskets, and bullets

were so disposed of in the house as to remain undiscovered, so that, all in

all, Captain Parsons with his two companies of Regulars found but small

compensation for his venturesome march. The Old Barrett house is about two

miles north of Concord Center and is reached by the Lowell Road and the

Barrett's Mill Road.




Near the

Common or Public Square, and bearing a sign designating its historic importance

is the "Wright Tavern" where it is asserted some of the English

officers made their headquarters during their few hours sojourn in the town on

April 19. Here, tradition says, Maj. John Pitcairn who commanded the British

marines stirred his sugar and brandy saying as he did so, "In this way we

will stir the blood of Yankees before night." This place was also the

headquarters, or place of rendezvous, of the Concord Minute Men while awaiting

on the morning of April 19, tidings of the advance of the English, and to this

tavern Captain Smith and his company from Lincoln repaired and reported; so

that it was within the course of a few hours the head center of two hostile

forces who were to clash in battle on that fateful day. This tavern is very

old. It was opened about 1747, by a militia captain named Ephraim Jones. In

1751, Jones sold the premises to Thomas Munroe formerly of Lexington, who

continued the tavern business, and made the place, as Jones had done before

him, a resort for the town officials on their days of public business,

furnishing them with such refreshments as were demanded by the times and the

special occasions.




About

1760, it came into the possession of Deacon Thomas Barrett, by a mortgage and

was sold by him to Daniel Taylor. In 1775, Amos Wright became its proprietor,

and although he kept an Inn there but a short period, it was long enough to

give it a lasting name, for it has been known as the Wright Tavern ever since,

notwithstanding it was sold in 1793, to Capt. Reuben Brown formerly of Sudbury.




Near the

Wright Tavern on the south is the First Parish or Unitarian Meeting House,

which stands on the site of one erected in 1712, where in 1774, the first

Provincial Congress met, with John Hancock as President. The immediate

predecessor of the present edifice after having been repeatedly remodeled was

destroyed by fire April 12, 1900.




A few

rods to the southerly, on the left going toward Lexington is the Antiquarian

House, said to be one of the oldest buildings in Concord and formerly the home

of Reuben Brown, a saddler. Here is now kept a collection of relics among which

is the sword of Col. James Barrett, a gun of one of the English soldiers who

fell at the North Bridge and a tobacco box of Maj. John Buttrick.




About a

mile below the Antiquarian House on the Lexington road which was traveled by

the English soldiers both in their advance and their retreat on April 19, is

Meriam's Corner. Here was the first skirmish after the firing at the North

Bridge, and the beginning of disaster to the retreating English, they having

been attacked at this point by the Provincials who had crossed from the North

Bridge over the "Great Fields" back of the Burying Ground, and also by

companies from Reading, Chelmsford and Billerica.




A tablet

suitably inscribed marks the spot of this memorable skirmish, and hard by, set

back from the highway with its side upon the road to Bedford is the square

antiquated dwelling house early occupied by the Meriams.




On one

of its doors is the mark of a bullet received April 19th; and the brick oven

and high mantle cupboard and corner beaufet are all indicative of the days of

tallow candles and pewter plates.




On the

east side of what is now Walden street at a place near the Congregational

Trinitarian meeting house there stood on April 19, 1775, a store house in which

some Provincial stores had been deposited by the Committee of Safety. These

stores were saved from destruction by the English searching squad, by a ruse of

the miller who had them in charge, who, placing his hands upon barrels of his

own flour, said, "This is my flour. In the winter I grind my grain and in

the spring I carry it to market."




The

soldiers believing by this remark concerning his own flour that all the flour

deposited there belonged to the miller departed saying, "We do not destroy

private property."


















 




CHAPTER II.




Places

of Classic Interest — The "Old Manse" — Home of Ralph Waldo Emerson —

The "Orchard House" — The "Wayside" Walden Pond— Thoreau's

House — The Home of Frank B. Sanborn — Old Burying Grounds — Sleepy Hollow —

Natural Objects.




 




THE

places of classic interest in Concord are many and rare, for associated with

its history both ancient and modern are men and women of world renown. Authors,

poets, philosophers and jurists have contributed to the town's literary fame.

The homes they once lived in are visited as shrines; and the paths once trodden

by them are annually pressed by the footsteps of many who seek new inspiration

by visiting the localities where these great men lived.




Probably

the place of greatest interest is the "Old Manse." It is on the way

to the "Battle Ground" and from its windows Rev. William Emerson

witnessed the Concord Fight. Beneath its gray gables have lived a succession of

the town's ministers; but what above everything else makes it distinguished is

that it was for a time the home of Ralph Waldo Emerson and Nathaniel Hawthorne.

Here the former wrote parts of his "Nature" and the latter

"Mosses from an old Manse." It is about a half mile from Concord

village standing back from the road amid a profusion of trees and shrubbery and

has an air of antiquity and colonial comfort: The house was built for Rev.

William Emerson in 1765.




The

field between the "Old Manse" and the "Battle Ground" is

supposed, on account of the many relics found there, to be the site of an

Indian village.




Probably

the object next in interest to the public is the house of Ralph Waldo Emerson.

This like the birthplace of the bard of Avon is a place very dear to tourists.

It is situated on the highway to Lexington and is easily distinguished by a

cluster of pine trees which environ it. The house is of the colonial style of

architecture, and of such pleasing proportions that it would be attractive to

the passerby even were it not the home of the great essayist. It is now

occupied by Miss Ellen Emerson, a daughter, and remains largely in its general

outlook as when left by its former illustrious occupant.




The

study which was on the first floor in one of the front rooms remains as when

the great philosopher was alive, and the walks, the garden nooks, the home

trees and such other objects as time, if let alone by man, leaves for years

unchanged, are here much as in days of yore when Channing, Alcott, Hawthorne

and Thoreau strolled among them.




Seldom,

perhaps, in our land or in any land has a home been visited by more

distinguished guests. From near and from far, from countries beyond the seas

men have come to this spot and gone away bearing with them as an ample

compensation the thought that they had visited the home of Emerson, walked in

his footsteps, sat amid his trees and vines and heard the singing of birds and

the humming of bees as he had heard them.




A

quarter of a mile or more to the east on the left of the road is the

"Orchard House". Here Bronson Alcott and his famous family lived; and

here Louisa Alcott found material for "Little Women" and "Little

Men" and several other of her notable books. In this house, Mr. Alcott

founded the Concord School of Philosophy which was afterwards carried on in the

small building at the rear.




Beyond

the "Orchard House" is the "Wayside," another home of the

Alcotts. It was sold by them in 1852 to Nathaniel Hawthorne who lived in it

till his death, thus giving it double renown. The "tower room" at the

rear was Hawthorne's study, and there he wrote "Tanglewood Tales" and

"Our Old Home".




It is

stated that the larches between the "Orchard House" and the

"Wayside" were brought by Mr. Hawthorne from England. The place is now

the residence of Mrs. Daniel Lothrop, who as Margaret Sidney wrote "Little

Maid of Concord Town" and other books.




To the

south of Concord center, distant a mile and a half over the fields and meadows

toward the town of Lincoln is Walden Pond, made famous by the author, poet, and

naturalist, Henry Thoreau. The pond is about a mile long and three miles in

circumference. It is almost entirely surrounded by woods and has no visible

inlet or outlet. Its waters are said to rise and fall but through what cause no

one knows, for it is sometimes higher in dry than in wet seasons. Upon the

northerly side of this pond Thoreau built a house which served him for a home

for two years and two months. He moved into it in 1845, and it cost him, apart

from the frame work, twenty-eight dollars and twelve and one half cents. The

boarding was of material obtained from the house of a laborer. The frame was of

timber cut and hewn by himself with a borrowed axe.




The

building which was ten feet wide and fifteen feet long stood upon slightly

rising ground about twenty rods from a small cove. It had a garret, a closet, a

large window on each side, a door at the end and a brick fireplace. The land

upon which it was situated was owned by Ralph Waldo Emerson who charged his

tenant no rent. The site of the house is marked by a simple cairn made of

stones placed there by tourists.




Not far

from Thoreau's house was his bean field, where he raised one year "nine

bushels and twelve quarts of beans" which he says he sold at a

"pecuniary profit of eight dollars seventy-one and one-half cents."




 As is

the case with many forest lakes, Walden has its legend and as usual it relates

to the Indians, who, as the story runs had displeased the Great Spirit by their

profanity at a powwow, whereupon in place of a pleasant hill came a pond which

took its name Walden from an old squaw who was the only survivor.




About

this pond there lived several emancipated slaves left over from that period of

New England history when the rum habit and human servitude were not considered

inconsistent with a high standard of morality. Of these Thoreau mentioned Cato

Ingraham who lived east of his "bean field, slave of Duncan Ingraham,

Esq., Gentleman of Concord village;" and Zilpha, a colored woman who had a

little house "where she spun linen for the towns-folk, making the Walden

woods ring with her shrill singing." He also states, that on Blister's

Hill down the road on the right lived Brister Freeman a "handy negro"

slave of Squire Cummings and "Fenda his hospitable wife who told

fortunes." Other habitants of the pond precinct mentioned in Thoreau's

writings are one Breed whose hut he says was about the size of his own; and an

Irishman, Hugh Quoil, whom rumor said had been a soldier at Waterloo,

"Napoleon" as the writer continues, "going to St. Helena and

Quoil to Walden woods."




 Apart

from its association with Henry Thoreau, Walden pond has attractions peculiarly

its own. The waters are at times remarkably transparent partaking of the

changeful sky tints, reflecting from the calm, clear depths the rich foliage

upon its banks. In some places the adjacent ground slopes gradually forming a

miniature beach where the bathers can walk out several feet, while in others it

falls rapidly with a sharp, steep descent and the trees standing gracefully

beside it give a very pleasing effect, so that all in all the variety of shore

line affords the beholder very much the aspect of the famous Lake George in New

York.




Walden

pond may be reached from the Fitchburg R. R. station by a short walk down the

track; or by carriage road down Thoreau street; or it may be reached from

Monument Square by way of Main and Walden streets.




Among

other localities especially associated with Henry Thoreau is the "landing

place," a spot by the river near the South bridge, where he embarked on

his trip for "A Week on the Concord and Merrimack Rivers," and to

which repeated reference is made by him.




The

birthplace of Thoreau is on the Virginia road, a somewhat disused way, opening

from the Bedford road, and the house where he died is the third on the left

before reaching the corner of Thoreau street as one goes up Main street. At the

time of Thoreau's death the house was occupied by his family and afterward by

Bronson Alcott and his daughter Louisa.




Just

east of the South bridge with stone arches, on Elm street, is the home of Frank

B. Sanborn, a well-known journalist and the biographer of Alcott, Thoreau,

Channing, and John Brown. The house was for a time the home of William Ellery

Channing, and to it men of letters have oft times repaired for literary and

social converse.




Its

distinguished owner and occupant became conspicuous in ante bellum days, by an

attempt to kidnap him on an alleged order of the President of the United States

Senate for contempt in not appearing before that body to be examined in the

interest of the southern slave power. The scheme so far succeeded as to result

in the capture of Mr. Sanborn under pretense of a lawful arrest but was soon

foiled by the persistence and pluck of Mrs. Sanborn and the granting of a writ

of habeas corpus by Judge E. Rockwood Hoar, then of the Massachusetts Supreme

Judicial Court.




Mr.

Sanborn was a friend of John Brown of Harper's Ferry renown, and through his

influence the latter made a visit to Concord and lifted up his voice in behalf

of freedom for the slave.




Next to

the places made prominent by the Revolution and the objects and localities made

famous by its distinguished men are its burying grounds. These places are of

more than usual interest and few tourists leave the town without visiting them.




The one

on the hill is supposed to be the oldest. Its exact age is not known but

presumably it began as a church yard, for on a spot in the midst of it is

supposed to have been built in 1635 or 1626 a little log meeting house; and it

is altogether probable, as we shall subsequently state, that nearby

contemporaneous with the erection of this first meeting house was the laying

out of land, according to the old English custom for a place of burial. But be

this as it may, the ground dates from about the beginning of the settlement and

since then representatives of many generations have been buried there.




This

yard contains fourteen or fifteen of the oldest gravestones in Concord, and

more than two thirds of all the monuments and other grave markers bearing names

of the original inhabitants of the town, are in this enclosure.




Upon

these ancient tablets are the familiar names of Hosmer, Hartwell, Buttrick,

Fletcher, Flint, Blood; also of Heald, Brooks, Wheate, Stow, Heywood, Temple,

Taylor, Chandler, Clark, Minott and Melvin, — family names which, it will be

observed as we pursue our narrative, are of men who were prominent in shaping

the town's history. Besides the names, inscriptions and epitaphs in this yard

have added to its interest. Conspicuous among them is one on the gravestone of

the negro John Jack once a slave which is supposed to have been written by

Daniel Bliss.




 




God

wills us free; man wills us slaves.




I will

as God wills; God's will be done.




Here

lies the body of JOHN JACK 




A native

of Africa who died March 1773, aged about 60 years.




Tho'

born in a land of slavery, He was born free.




Tho' he

lived in a land of liberty, He lived a slave, 




Till by

his honest, tho' stolen, labors, 




He

acquired the source of slavery, 




Which

gave him his freedom; 




Tho' not

long before Death, the grand tyrant, 




Gave him

his final emancipation, 




And set

him on a footing with kings.




Tho' a

slave to vice, He practised those virtues 




Without

which kings are but slaves.




 




Upon the

summit of the hill within an altar tomb are the remains of Rev. Daniel Bliss,

at one-time Pastor of the Concord church. Nearby is a tablet to the memory of

the Rev. William Emerson. By the Catholic church, near Main and Bedford streets

is a row of tombs in one of which repose the remains of the Rev. Ezra Ripley.




Space

forbids a further notice of the names and exact place of sepulture of the

honored dead. It is enough to say that the place is teeming with sacred

associations of both the near and remote past; and as one looks up to it from

the busy highway beneath, he may well feel it is a place unusual even in a town

of exceptional interest.




The

burying ground supposed to be second in age is on Main street a short distance

west of the Bank. Tradition says that the land was given to the town for burial

purposes by two maiden ladies. When it was opened for this purpose is not

known; but it is designated in the records as existing as a burying ground as

early as 1673.




The

earliest stone is that of Thomas Hawthorne, who died November 17, 1697, and the

next date found there is 1713. There are but few monuments and the stones are

mostly slate. Prominent names on these stones are Hayward, Buss, Barrett,

Miles, Potter, Stratton, Dakin, Jones, Davis, Prescott, Hubbard and Conant.

Just east of this yard is the site of one of the town's old garrison houses.




"Sleepy

Hollow" the latest cemetery in Concord is situated on the outskirts of the

central village to the eastward, and a few minutes walk from the public square.

The land was bought of the heirs of Reuben Brown in 1855. At its dedication the

oration was delivered by Ralph Waldo Emerson, and an ode was sung which was

written by Frank B. Sanborn.




The

natural conformation is admirably suited for the purpose of a cemetery, and the

locality was called Sleepy Hollow long before it was used as a place of burial.

The first interment was in 1855. Here by the Ridge Path is the grave of

Hawthorne marked by a simple stone bearing only his name. Just behind it is

that of Thoreau, at the head of which is a common red stone, and near this is

the grave of Emerson marked by a large piece of rock. In 1869 the town obtained

a strip of land which united the New Hill burying ground with Sleepy Hollow.




The most

notable natural object in Concord is the river. It takes its rise in Hopkinton

and Westboro, and empties into the Merrimac at Lowell. Its original name is

Musketequid, signifying in the Indian language grassy ground. It is about two

hundred feet wide where it enters the town and three hundred where it leaves

it. Its current is so slow as sometimes to be scarcely perceptible. Its meadows

are broad and in places extend to woody uplands, fertile fields and pleasant

secluded nooks, where grow the cranberry vine and the wild grape.




There

are places of interest along the banks of this river in other towns as well as

Concord; a few miles southwesterly in the town of Wayland is the Old Town

Bridge of Sudbury over which the Indians under King Philip were driven in 1676.

Nearby stands the late home of Lydia Maria Child, noted author and

abolitionist. And on a tributary of this stream in the adjoining town of

Sudbury stands the "Wayside Inn" made famous by Longfellow. 




Other of

the prominent natural features of Concord are three hills, Nashawtuc, Annusnuc

and Punkatassett. These names are all of Indian origin. Nashawtuc is just west

of the river, near the South bridge. At or near the foot of this hill was the

wigwam of Tahattawan, and the squaw Sachem, two of the aboriginal owners of the

Concord territory. At the southwesterly was the homestead of Major Simon

Willard, the site of which is marked by a tablet. Annusnuc is at Concord

Junction near the Massachusetts Reformatory. About this hill in the early days

of the settlement was the "Hog-pen walk" a tract of land set apart by

the original grantees for the pasture of swine.




On the

plain land stretching to the southwesterly was held the famous State Muster by

order of Gov. Nathaniel P. Banks, where in 1858 were encamped all the volunteer

militia of Massachusetts.




Punkatasett

is in the northeast part of Concord, about a mile from the North Bridge. It is

conspicuous in Concord history as being the point of observation for the

"embattled farmers" as they awaited events on the morning of April

19, 1775. Upon and about these hills there is a good outlook from which a large

portion of the town can be seen and more or less of the winding river courses

may be traced.




Fairhaven

hill in the southwest part of the town overlooks Fairhaven pond, a tract of

water or bay in Concord river having an area of about seventy-three acres.

Brister's hill is beyond Walden pond near Lincoln. These latter places are

frequently referred to in the works of Henry Thoreau.




Among

the highlands which hardly attain hill proportions is the "Ridge"

which skirts Concord center toward the east and south. This locality is of much

historic interest as along the base of it was the "little strate

strete", now a part of Lexington road along which the earliest house lots

were laid out.




Upon the

uplands to the rear were some of the first cornlands of the settlers, and from

the more prominent points of this natural observatory they could look off upon

their meadow lands which in those first years were the main means of sustenance

for their livestock.




The

Public Library building is of recent date being erected in 1873. It's situated

at the junction of Sudbury road and Main street and stands upon or near, the

spot where one of the town's old-time taverns early stood.




This

Library is of especial interest because of what it contains of Concord

authorship, having, besides the books that were written by Concord men and

women, a valuable collection of the manuscripts from which the books were

produced. There are also deposited here relics, pictures and pieces of

sculpture relating to or made by Concord people. The Library is but a short

walk from the public square and on the way to the Fitchburg Railroad station.




On the

right hand side of Main street going westward and nearly opposite the Public

Library is the house formerly occupied by the late Hon. Samuel Hoar. Here were

born Hon. E. Rockwood Hoar, formerly a Judge of the Massachusetts Supreme

Judicial Court and Attorney General in the Cabinet of President Grant, and Hon.

George F. Hoar, United States Senator.




The

portion of Main street from a point a little to the east of this place is of

comparatively modern construction, the old road passing a little to the north

of the present one, leaving the burying ground to the south of it.




The

short strip of Main street between the Public Square and the beginning of

Walden street was formerly in part the Mill Dam and was not used as a regularly

laid out highway until almost within the memory of people now living.




The site

of the first "Corn Mill" in Concord was here, at a spot just east of

the Old Bank building. The pond which furnished the mill power extended from

the dam southward.




The

Trinitarian Church is upon, or near the site of Concord's first store which was

kept by Robert Meriam, who had over a score of acres of land granted him in

that locality.




The

three-story dwelling house on the same side of Walden street, and next but one

north of it, was long the only three-story house in Concord. It was built and

owned by Duncan Ingraham, a wealthy merchant and father of Captain Ingraham of

the United States Navy, who cleared the decks of his warship for action in the

harbor of Smyrna, Turkey, in behalf of the Hungarian refugee, Martin Koszta,

remarking, "Blood is thicker than water."




 On the

corner southwest of the Public Square, at the beginning of Main street was the

Old Middlesex Hotel, where in the days when County Courts were held at Concord,

many noted jurists were entertained.




Such is

Concord in the present; and the foregoing are some of the objects and places

much visited by the tourists, who on gala occasions and throughout the milder

seasons throng into the town sightseeing, gathering souvenirs and pensively

pondering upon the past.


















 




CHAPTER III.




Origin

of Settlement — Early Results — Erection of "Corn Mill" — Meeting

House — Parsonage — Resumption of Traveler's Narrative — Coming from Watertown

— First Conference with the Concord Colonists — Visit to the Home of William

Hartwell — Indian Mission Service at Nashawtuc 




 




THE

earliest mention of this region was probably made by William Wood, in a book

entitled "New England Prospects", a work supposed to be based upon

his personal observation about 1633. An early description is also given by

Johnson, in his "Wonder Working Providence of Sion's Savior in New

England," published in 1654, in which the writer sets forth the Concord

plantation as a place where the pioneers found hard fare and built their huts

by leaning the rough logs against the hillside, which served the double purpose

of a support and a chimney back.




The

breaking of ground upon this plat for a permanent settlement was about 1635,

when there arrived from England by way of Watertown, then Newtowne, which town,

with Cambridge, then bounded Concord on the easterly, the other sides being

bounded by an unclaimed wilderness, a company of colonists, under the direction

of Rev. Peter Bulkeley, Elder John Jones, and probably Simon Willard, a

merchant. Among the names of these colonists are some still familiar in

Concord, which designate ancient and honored households, whose continuity with

the distant past has never been broken by time's rude touch, and like faithful

waymarks of history still chronicle by their suggestiveness what has made the

old town great. Supplemental to such friendly services as borne by the living

is that borne by the dead, and 




"In

that village on the hill, 




Where

never is sound of smithy or mill,"




 the

old-time tombstone, with its grime and its gray, and its quaint, weather-made

defacement, stands representative of connecting links, as if, by a poor proxy

like this, it could make the past and present, one.




That

success attended the settlement is well attested by early results; and though

the records of these results have been lost, so that for a half century and

over not a sentence comes to us from the written page, save as we receive it

from colonial sources, or in scraps and fragments of family documents, yet

tradition, often true in its intent to preserve, and trustworthy even in

matters of moment, speaks unmistakably of Concord's early town life. The earth

and brush cabins soon gave way to substantial structures; the forest was felled

along the plain land and the meadow margins; and a mill was erected "to

grind the town's corn."




 The

spot selected for the mill was near what is now the Common, or public square,

and the little stream upon which it was situated is known as "Mill

Brook," though it is now so small as might lead one to doubt whether it

ever had any mill power at all. But we should remember that not only do times

and customs change, but nature changes also, and while the little brooklet that

once ran a-roaring by the plain can still sing in the sweet strain of Tennyson,

"And men may come and men may go, but I go on forever," yet it runs

with a lessened current and speaks with a voice more subdued. Why it has become

thus modest is not because it stands abashed at the busy human tide that trips

over it, or because in many instances the traveler is all unconscious of its former

worth and never stops to reflect that it once ground the fathers' corn and

furnished meal for the brown bread and pan dowdy; but its modesty is occasioned

doubtless by a changed condition of surroundings.




It is

considered probable by local historians that by the clearing up of the forests

less water runs in some of the streams than formerly; and, probably, this is

the case here; so that the Rev. Peter Bulkeley, for he it was who caused the

erection of this mill, made no mistake, doubtless, when he gauged the capacity

of this now miniature water power and concluded that it would suffice every

purpose of a village grist mill.




But,

conspicuous above everything else as marks of progress, were events of an

ecclesiastical character. It was a usual condition of the colonial court in

conferring a town grant that the grantees should maintain a gospel ministry,

and pursuant to this important requisite the Concord inhabitants early erected

a meeting house. The spot selected was on the summit of the ridgeway, near the

burying ground, not far distant from the present public square.




The

first structure was probably of logs; but this was soon succeeded by one of

framework; for it was not in accordance with the customs of the forefathers to

live in sealed houses while God's temples were neglected. Previously, however,

to the building of the meeting house, and not far from the meadow margin a

house was built for Minister Bulkeley. The site of this parsonage is on the

present Lowell street a few steps from Monument Square and is modestly marked

by a memorial tablet bearing the following record.




"Here,

in the house of the Reverend Peter Bulkeley, first minister and one of the

founders of this town, a bargain was made with the Squaw Sachem, the Sagamore

Tahattawan and other Indians, who then sold their right in the six miles square

called Concord to the English planters and gave them peaceful possession of the

land, A. D. 1636."




 This

tablet has more than a passing interest to a reflective mind. It opens up by

the suggestiveness of its simple inscription thoughts relating to over two

centuries. Here, doubtless, if anywhere, centralized for a twelve month at

least much that was political and religious, relating to the early land grant

and its grantees. Here, doubtless, if in any place, was the cradle in which the

township had its infancy, and as the little woodland municipality was nursed

and grew strong, probably conference after conference was held here to consider

matters relating to highways, bridges, and perhaps "cow commons" and

"common planting fields;" for the minister in those days was not only

the village high priest, but he had also a certain quasi magisterial

jurisdiction, and by a generally recognized common law principle was "head

center" of the settlement. As the parsonage was built prior to the meeting

house, it is quite probable that the latter was here planned. Here, too, it may

be, the church council was considered, which, July 5th, 1636, convened at

Cambridge and organized the Concord church.




Other

works of public convenience and necessity quickly followed. Roads were opened,

bridges built, laws formulated; and the sunlight of civilized life was soon

shining in the hitherto dark forest.




Such is

an outline of some of the features of Concord, and of her early history. And

now as we are about to leave the general for the particular, and consider

character, processes, and events in detail, we will state that our plan is to

suppose that we lived in that far away period, visited the settlers in their

homes and sat by their fire-sides, and that the sparks were in part our

oracles; also that we are living in the present when we are relating what we

then saw and heard, together with some facts which occurred subsequently.




Assuming

then that we are the traveler who two centuries and a half ago sat by the

hearthstone of Goodman Hartwell on that fall evening, we will resume our

narrative by saying, that we started from Watertown following the trail

probably made by the first settlers, finding here and there what we suspected

were sad traces of their toilsome journey, which Johnson has so dolorously

described in his "Wonder-working Providence." On the upland was good

traveling, but there were swamps and hard places which because of their wetness

or stony nature, the forest fires of the Indians had not kept clear of

underbrush, so that we were many times forced from our direct course and

obliged to make long and painful detours. We traveled for a time by the

"Old Connecticut Path", the ancient trail of the Nipnet Indians to the

sea-board, and the same that was taken a few years previous by Rev. Messrs.

Hooker and Stone on their way with a hundred people from Cambridge to Hartford,

and which was traveled a little earlier by John Oldham of Pequod war fame. But,

on arriving at the plain lands about the Charles river, near a stony brook, we

veered northerly into a broken country, and after some hours emerged from the

woods upon a sandy ridgeway where we found some squaws harvesting corn.




From our

high point of observation we looked over a broad intervale threaded by a

winding, sluggish stream, and we knew by this and by the houses on a little

"strate strete" below us that we were in Concord.




Being a

stranger to both place and people it mattered little whom we approached, or

where we went, and as there were beyond the mill brook some people talking we

joined them. Approaching, we found they were settlers and were talking English,

but it was not such English as we hear to-day. In fact we found that here were

brought together the dialects of Surrey, Kent, York and Bedfordshire. Goodman

Buttrick, William Hartwell and James Hosmer were talking with Simon Willard the

merchant, about a suitable place for a "cow common" because it had

been represented to them that the cattle and goats roaming unrestrainedly

through the "great meadows" much "damnified" the marsh

red-top and lute grass, and that it would be better to have a place of common

pasturage and "size it out" and have the income go to help pay the

minister, rather than to risk any farther "indamnifying" by stray

creatures.




As we

introduced ourselves and disclosed our errand we were most cordially received

and at once invited to their homes.




The

first invitation was extended by William Hartwell, which we accepted; and it

being near nightfall we were soon on our way to his house in the east quarter

which we reached after a half hour's walk. Not long after our arrival we sat

down at the supper table which was spread in a large kitchen before a great,

open fire. After the meal and the returning of thanks, for Goodman Hartwell was

a man of prayer, the men went to the barn to do the chores and the stranger was

conducted to the front room to await the family and the arrival of the company

who were to talk over town meeting. As it was no longer early evening, the work

both indoors and out was done in a hurry and soon all were seated about the

fireside as described in the opening chapter. And now to resume our narrative

as there commenced, suffice it to say, the neighborhood gathering broke up to convene

again at the parsonage two nights later. Meanwhile, particular care was to be

taken in observing noises about the "buryin ground pastur" and as to

tracks of the strange creature which Goody Rice saw.




Immediately

after the company had departed we retired, for we were weary and the hour was

late. Our sleeping apartment was large and unfinished, yet it had an air of

comfort and its very commodiousness was of itself restful.




The

night was a quiet one. Silence almost perfect pervaded everything, and our slumber

was undisturbed save by the occasional hoot of an owl amid the pines which had

been left near the house for a stormbreak and shade for the cattle.




As our

visit to the Hartwells on this occasion was only for the night, it having been

arranged with Timothy Wheeler at our interview with the settlers at Mill brook,

to meet him at the village store the following day, and as we visited the

Hartwell home later, we will defer any description of it for a subsequent

chapter. About mid-afternoon of the next day we mounted an ox cart and behind a

yoke of half broken bullocks started for the village, meeting Timothy Wheeler

at the grocery according to previous arrangement.




As we

were about starting for the home of our new host we learned that the Apostle,

John Eliot, was to hold an Indian mission meeting that evening at the wigwam of

Tahattawan near Nashawtuc, by candle light. Upon hearing this announcement, it

at once occurred to us that here was an opportunity of learning something of

Indian mission work, and of forming an acquaintance with its founder, Reverend

John Eliot; so I asked Goodman Wheeler about the propriety of attending the

proposed gathering. Our kind host immediately called back the swarthy

messengers, who had just brought the announcement of the meeting, and upon my

desire being made known, they invited me to go with them to Tahattawan's

wigwam. It was not long before we were away, for although the distance was

short it was approaching nightfall. Before starting, however, we called Goodman

Wheeler aside to satisfy ourselves as to the safety of our proposed visit among

the Indians, and to arrange about the time of making the visit to his home

which had been so unexpectedly deferred. As to the first matter he informed us

that we would be as safe with our Indian friends as with anyone; and with

regard to the visit he said he would meet us at the coming town meeting when we

would go home together.


















 




CHAPTER IV.




Tahatawan's

Wigwam — Supper Served by Squaws — Rev. John Eliot Preaching by Candlewood

Light — Tribal Relations of the Musketequids — Stone Relics and Sites of Indian

Villages — Spread of Christianity among the Concord Aborigines — Nashoba —

Exile of Christian Indians to Deer Island— Humane Efforts of John Hoar in their

behalf.




 




STARTING

out from the village store we were soon in the forest. Our course was single

file through a winding wood path to the meadow margin, and from there amid

clustering cranberry vines, we proceeded to the river bank, where an Indian was

waiting with a light canoe. As we passed through the woods we noticed along the

way scarcely anything but tall timber trees, and these so scattered and so

devoid of low branches that a man on horseback could easily ride between them.

So singular was this circumstance that we afterwards inquired about it and were

told that the woods were kept mainly clear of underbrush by the Indians, who,

to facilitate the capture of game, annually set forest fires, and that this was

done just before the fall rains. We stepped into the canoe, which was made of

birch bark tied with thongs of deer skin and were soon afloat on the

Musketequid and swiftly borne by the paddle strokes of Tahattawan to Nashawtuc.




The

short river ride was made silently, for our friends were as mute as the grave,

except that now and then a low murmuring went out from one of them, which, as

it mingled faintly with the rising night wind — for it was now evening — and

the strange whistling of the wings of a belated water fowl, were the only

sounds save the splash of the water that we heard.




Soon we

reached the large wigwam of Tahattawan near Nashawtuc and were ushered into the

simple arcana of Nature's children, where all was new and surpassingly strange

to us. In broken English we were presented to the head of the household and his

daughters, of whom there were present Noonansquaw and Tahunsquaw, the latter of

whom was the wife of Waban of Natick.




Although

not invited to do so we sat down upon a low, rude platform upon which was a

dressed skin of some wild animal, and silently observed the preparations for

supper. Besides a "nokake" made of maize meal and baked in the ashes,

they poured from a kettle into a rude wooden tray a stew or soup thickened with

dried chestnut meal, and which consisted, as we were afterwards told, of dried

alewives, several strings of which hung in a corner, and a few bones cut into

small pieces. There was also in a smaller dish some substance that they called

sic-qua-tash (succotash), which consisted of dried green corn and beans.




Supper

over, we were glad enough to have our loneliness ended by the arrival of

Messrs. Gookin and Eliot. It was not long before there entered several families

from wigwams near, on both the upper and lower meadow and also several

individuals from about the Assabet. The candlewood was soon lighted just

outside the wigwam door, and the scene thereby revealed to us by these

flambeaux was a weird and impressive one.




After a

prayer in the Indian language Mr. Eliot addressed his swarthy audience in the

same tongue, exhorting them, as our interpreter informed us, to beware of the

evil influences of Hobbommoc (the devil), and to hold steadfast to the newly

found Kiton (good spirit). Especially he advised them to beware of powwowing,

and to have nothing to do with medicine men, whom he denounced as true children

of Hobbommoc. At length, after another prayer in the Indian language, there

arose the low sound of singing or chanting, in guttural, harsh, discordant

tones; the effect was striking, for as the strains floated out over the moist

meadows and up the woody slopes of Nashawtuc, not so much as the call of a

night bird, not even the wind's moaning was heard, as a wild interlude to the

words of the hymn.




At the

close of the singing Mr. Bulkeley, who had accompanied Mr. Eliot, was asked to

pray, and as the group kneeled on the matted leaves, such a petition went up

from "Big Pray", as the lowly children of the Musketequid had rarely

listened to. Slowly, reverently and peacefully, we were lifted heavenward by

every sentence; and when he ceased we almost forgot we were on the earth.




At the

conclusion of the evening services we were invited to remain all night, and as

Major Gookin was proposing to do so, Mr. Eliot having gone home with Mr.

Bulkeley, we accepted of our host's hospitality and were soon seated around the

wigwam amid a little group consisting of Tahattawan's household.




As the

flames flickered upward through the small aperture in the roof, we did not

wonder so much at the copper colored complexion of the Indian, for every now

and then the heavy night wind forced down the smoke, and an occasional rain

drip on the coals made a close, thick atmosphere.




But the

disagreeableness of an imperfect draught was soon remedied by Tahattawan, who,

stepping to the door, dropped over it a coarse mat which was there pendent for

this purpose, and which so completely closed the aperture that the smoke

readily ascended; and as the sparks chased each other upward into the darkness,

a strange feeling came over us and we almost wished that Goodman Wheeler had

taken us home with him. Just then there entered the wigwam Major Gookin and

Waban, the latter of whom could speak good English, having often acted as an

interpreter and helper of Mr. Eliot in his mission work at Natick.




For an

hour we sat conversing by the firelight and gained much interesting information

concerning the aboriginal inhabitants of the Musketequid country and of their

experience with the early settlers.




And now

for a little time, exchanging fiction for fact, we will state some things about

these Concord Indians that are matters of history.




Their

tribal relations were with the Mystics, whose headquarters were at Medford.

Their neighbors were the Pawtuckets, at Wameset (Lowell); the Ockoocagansetts

at what is now (Marlboro), and the Natick Indians; the last three being

probably related either to the Mystics or the Nipmucks.




The

localities where the Indians lived are indicated by the presence of shells,

arrow and spear heads and sometimes arrow chips, which are refuse material

chipped from the stone when the arrow was made; also stone implements used for

purposes of agriculture and cookery, and chisels, gouges, rude pestles or corn

pounders. Some of the places where stone relics have been found, are the

"Great fields" east of the center, the vicinity of "Egg

Rock" not far from the "Hemlocks," about Fairhaven bay, on the

south side of the river east of the "Old Manse," on the right of the

river below Flint's bridge, the neighborhood of Spenser brook, and a place on

the left bank of the river a little above the Fitchburg Railroad bridge where

the river bends abruptly. At this latter point it is said, many bushels of

shells have been found, and among them the remains of wild animals and parts of

stone implements.




It is

impossible to determine the exact number of Indians in the Musketequid country

at the time of its settlement by the English. Probably the population was

greatly reduced here as in other places along the Massachusetts Bay shores, by

the pestilence that prevailed before the English occupation, so that very

likely their villages were comparatively few and no more than small clusters of

wigwams.




A

portion or all of the Concord Indians, through the efforts of the Rev. John

Eliot, who translated the bible into the language of the aborigines, early

became converts to Christianity. These were gathered by Mr. Eliot and Major

Daniel Gookin, into an Indian town or village named Nashoba, situated in what

is now Littleton. The number of Indians thus gathered was about fifty-eight,

representing ten families, only about twelve being able bodied men.




Nashoba

was called by Major Gookin in his Historical collection the sixth praying

Indian town. He states that, "The dimensions of this village were four

miles square," that, "their ruler of late years was Ahatawance

(Tahattawan), a pious man," and "their teacher is named John

Thomas."




 The

petition for the establishment of this place is dated May 4, 1654 and was

presented by Mr. Eliot. The Nashoba plantation began auspiciously and continued

to prosper both in things temporal and spiritual until a war with the Mohawks,

which resulted in its abandonment for a season, but as late as 1674, according

to Gookin, it had become re-peopled and was in a "hopeful way to

prosper."




 There

is ample opportunity for one to conjecture concerning the pleasant condition of

things at the Nashoba plantation during the years immediately following its

establishment.




As it

was the custom of the Apostle Eliot to keep spiritual watch and ward over the

native churches and to occasionally visit them for exhortation and conference,

so we may suppose he did this one, and that more than once he journeyed from

Roxbury to Nonantum (Newton) his first mission field, thence to Natick, and

from there went on through the woods to Concord, visiting scattered wigwams by

the way and the village at Cochituate pond (Wayland) and the home of Kato at

Wigwam hill in Sudbury.




Upon his

arrival at Concord, we may suppose that he made parochial visits among such of

the Musketequid Indians as still lingered about their old haunts, faithful to

the memory of their former firesides and the graves of their fathers. These

visits completed, we may conjecture that the great Apostle passed on over the

old Marlboro road, at that time perhaps a mere wood path trod mainly by the

Occogoogansetts to Nashoba, bringing with him a benediction from their Bay

brothers, and instructing them from the Up-Biblum (Indian bible.) But when

Philip's war broke out the scene changed.




The

Colonial communities everywhere became distrustful of all Indians, the praying

Indians included, notwithstanding the evidence the latter were giving of

continued loyalty, serving the colony faithfully whenever occasion required as

spies, or as allies in the ranks of levied troops.




To such

an extent did English distrust prevail that it was decided by the Colonial

authorities to remove a portion or all of the Christian Indians to Deer island

in Boston harbor, and the order was given and executed.




The

details of this untimely closing of the Indian mission stations are sad to

relate, and they remind one of the cruel treatment of the Acadians at Grand

Pre, whose homes were broken in upon by the English and Colonial soldiers, and

their families separated and cast forlorn upon a lone coast line extending from

New England to Georgia.




Before

the carrying out of this order, however, as related to the Indians at Nashoba,

an attempt was made in their behalf which resulted in an order by the Colonial

Court, that an arrangement be made by the Militia Committee and the selectmen of

Concord that they be placed under the inspection of John Hoar of Concord, to

see that they be kept employed for their maintenance and preserved from harm

and the country made secure from them.




In

pursuance of this arrangement, Mr. Hoar built a house for them near his own for

their protection and comfort at night, and a workshop, in both of which they

were under close surveillance.




The

means thus provided by Mr. Hoar for the mutual protection of both the Indians

and English were accomplishing their full purpose and would doubtless have

continued to do so had it not been for an untoward interference with his plans,

the account of which may be best presented by the following quotation from

Gookin's "History of the Christian Indians."




 "But

some of the inhabitants of the town, being influenced with a spirit of

animosity and distaste against all Indians, disrelished this settlement; and

therefore privately sent to a Captain of the army, (Captain Mosely) that

quartered his company not far off at that time, of whom they had experience,

that he would not be backward to put in execution anything that tended to

distress the praying Indians; for this was the same man that had formerly,

without order, seized upon divers of the praying Indians at Marlborough, which

brought much trouble and disquiet to the country of the Indians, and was a

great occasion of their defection; as hath been above declared.




"This

Captain accordingly came to Concord with a party of his men upon the Sabbath

day, into the Meeting-house, where the people were convened to the worship of

God.




And

after the exercise was ended, he spake openly to the congregation to this

effect: 'that he understood there were some heathen in the town, committed to

one Hoare, which he was informed were a trouble and disquiet to them; therefore

if they desired it he would remove them to Boston;' to which speech, most of

the people being silent, except two or three that encouraged him, he took, as

it seems, the silence of the rest for consent; and immediately after the assembly

was dismissed, he went with three or four files of men, and a hundred or two of

the people, men, women and children, at his heels, and marched away to Mr.

Hoare's house and there demanded of him to see the Indians under his care.

Hoare opened the door and showed them to him, and they were all numbered and

found there; the Captain then said to Mr. Hoare, 'that he would leave a

corporal and soldiers to secure them'; but Mr. Hoare answered, 'there was no

need of that, for they were already secured, and were committed to him by order

of the Council, and he would keep and secure them.' But yet the Captain left

his corporal and soldiers there, who were abusive enough to the poor Indians by

ill language.




The next

morning the Captain came again to take the Indians and send them to Boston. But

Mr. Hoare refused to deliver them, unless he showed him an order of the

Council; but the Captain could show him no other but his commission to kill and

destroy the enemy; but Mr. Hoare said, 'these were friends and under order.'

But the Captain would not be satisfied with his answer but commanded his

corporal forthwith to break open the door and take the Indians all away, which

was done accordingly; and some of the soldiers plundered the poor creatures of

their shirts, shoes, dishes, and such other things as they could lay their

hands upon, though the Captain commanded the contrary. They were all brought to

Charlestown with a guard of twenty men. And the Captain wrote a letter to the

General Court, then sitting, giving them an account of his action.




"This

thing was very offensive to the Council, that a private Captain should (without

commission or some express order) do an act so contradictory to their former

orders; and the Governor and several others spake of it at a conference with

the deputies at the General Court.




"The

Deputies seemed generally to agree to the reason of the Magistrates in this

matter; yet notwithstanding, the Captain (who appeared in Court shortly after

upon another occasion), met with no rebuke for this high irregularity and

arbitrary action. To conclude this matter, those poor Indians, about

fifty-eight of them of all sorts, were sent down to Deer Island, there to pass

into the furnace of affliction with their brethren and countrymen. But all

their corn and other provision sufficient to maintain them for six months, was

lost at Concord; and all their other necessaries, except what the soldiers had

plundered. And the poor Indians got very little or nothing of what they lost,

but it was squandered away, lost by the removal of Mr. Hoare and other means,

so that they were necessitated to live upon clams, as the others did, with some

little corn provided at the charge of the 'Honorable Corporation for the

Indians,' residing in London. Besides, Mr. Hoare lost all his building and

other cost, which he had provided for the entertainment and employment of those

Indians; which was considerable." This was in February, 1675-6. Only a few

Indians returned to Nashoba after the exile.




Such was

the melancholy ending of the mission at Nashoba, in which more or less of the

Musketequid Indians were gathered together in Christian fellowship. It is the

old, oft repeated story of the supremacy of the strong over the weak and the

power of evil to destroy in a few days what it took many years to construct.




There is

also seen in this sad episode of Indian history something of the transmuting

power of the gospel, in that while others of the aboriginal tribes were filled

with vengeful hate toward the white men and giving way to the powerful

persuasions of King Philip of Pokanoket to pillage the fields, to burn dwelling

places, and to murder or capture the inhabitants in defense of their ancient

hearthstones and hunting grounds, the Christian Indians stood fast in their new

faith and proved firm friends of the English.




William

Tahattawan, brother of John the Chieftain, although among those who were exiled

to Deer Island, served as a faithful guide of Major Savage, a Colonial officer.




Thomas

Doublet or Nepanet, another of the Nashoba Indians did good service in

procuring the release of Mrs. Rowlandson, who was captured at Lancaster; and

when Captain Wadsworth and his command were destroyed at Green hill, Sudbury,

the Christian Indians brought from Deer Island were the first to search the battle

ground and help bury the slain, weeping, it is said, when they saw their

prostrate forms.




Upon

these things history has not greatly enlarged; and while the multitudinous

records of the misdeeds and evil practices of the pagan Indians have been

preserved, the true, the noble, the honorable acts of the Christian Indians may

have been too much overlooked, Christianity thereby losing a merited tribute.




After a

while the conversation flagged, the fire burned low, and two or three of those

who had been sitting on the ground with their hands clasped around their ankles

and their heads dropped upon their knees withdrew, flung themselves upon the

couches and pulled up the bear skins.




As Major

Gookin suggested that we also retire, we did so, and soon all was silent save

the pelting of the storm on the bark covering and a slight splashing of the

river waves against the canoe.




As the

strange surroundings were not conducive to the soundest slumber we awoke. Once

we heard the howling of a wolf not far distant. Now and then there was the

jerky bark of a fox, and toward morning a bear poked his head under the rush

mat hanging at the doorway, and we caught a glimpse of his long, slender snout,

but he quickly withdrew when he sniffed the scent of fire.


















 




CHAPTER V.




Duck

Hunting — River Scenery — Beaver Dam — Indian Granary — Sweating Pit —

Mysterious Sight upon the Meadows — Arrival at the Manse.




 




AT

length the morning came and the inmates of the wigwam arose; thoughtless of

toilet or bath, they swung the kettle over the coals as on the night previous,

and threw into it a little maize meal, to which was added a couple of slices of

dried pompion, and a small handful of ground nuts. Not desiring to stop for

breakfast, we thanked our kind hosts for their hospitality, and upon invitation

of Mr. Gookin stepped into a canoe and were paddled across the stream by Waban.




Upon

stepping ashore we at once entered a path by the meadow side, which we were

told would take us to Parson Bulkeley's house, when we met Goodmen Humphrey Barrett

and George Hayward, each carrying a gun with a long slender barrel and a short

stock. We recognized them at once having met them the day previous at the

village store. They informed us that they were going up the river duck hunting

and would be glad of our company.




Being

desirous of learning something about the river and its meadows and the game

that frequented them, the invitation was accepted with hearty thanks. Before

going, however, we went to the parsonage to inform the minister of our change

of plan and get some breakfast, also to borrow a fowling piece as Humphrey

Barrett said the minister had a good one.




A half

hour and we were back and afloat, gliding along by willow clumps and water

brush, starting now and then a solitary bittern or musquash and pushing our way

mid such a profusion of lily pads and fragrant blossoms as half concealed the

river's channel.




As we

moved slowly up the stream past Nashawtuc and the South bridge, we were as much

in the wilderness as if midway between Concord and Watertown, for the trees

approached the meadow bank on each side, and but for the smoke from various

chimneys near the Ridgeway, and the sight of a clearing by Major Willard's at

the bridge, we might for the moment have forgotten that there was a settlement at

Musketequid. The scenery was beautiful.




The

trees were touched with a tint such as Nature in her best mood only produces

after the first fall frosts. The sky was blue, and such a blue as is seen after

an autumnal storm and when the very cloudlessness causes it to be called a

"weather breeder." Afar over the woodland were occasional traces of

white smoke indicating scattered Indian encampments; while circling high over

all were here and there large flocks of wild water fowl, some of which after wheeling

gracefully over the meadows, at length settled on the stream. So many times

they did this and so numerous were the birds that we got many good shots.




Having

passed Fairhaven bay we noticed a small stream that suggested trout, and as we

had fishing tackle which Parson Bulkeley had also loaned us and moreover were a

little reluctant to accompany our friends further, since they were intending to

go as far as Gulf brook to hunt for other game, we requested to be allowed to

land that we might fish and look about till their return.




After

stepping ashore, we strolled inland by a small stream, fishing as we went, and

now and then capturing one of its speckled inhabitants, until we discovered a

miniature mill dam, which much surprised us. The dam was about five feet high

and well braced, and the thin waterfall that slid over it upon the green moss

beneath made a soft, pleasant murmur. Not a creature was visible, and so

peaceful was the scene that we involuntarily stopped at the first glimpse of

it. And it was well we did, for had we not, we should have lost an interesting

spectacle. We had come upon a beaver dam, which the settlers, even with their

laudable greed for beaver skins, had overlooked. As we crept through the alders

and tangled junipers for a safe point to observe from, we found ourselves in a

well-worn path, which was doubtless made by wild animals as they watched the

little colony, to make it their prey. For half an hour we observed the doings

about this beaver dam from a distance, and then in order to observe it more

particularly, we advanced nearer. In an instant, there was a sound as if a

hundred beaver tails had slapped concertedly upon the pond, and almost

simultaneously silence reigned, broken only by the soft splash of the waterfall

and the whistling wing of a wood duck which sought its haunt in a neighboring

oak. The tocsin had sounded and the clan was gone. Well knowing that further

study of the beaver there was impossible, we concluded to make a fire and cook

some trout and see if perchance the sparks would say anything about them.




As we

saw the day previous at Goodman Hartwell's that we could start a blaze with the

flint lock of our fowling piece, we quickly whipped out some tow wadding, and

placing it over the powder pan, pulled the trigger.




The

sparks caught, and the tow was ablaze, and nursing the feeble flame with some

dry moss we soon had a good lire and were listening to what the sparks said

about the beavers. We learned that at one time they were quite plentiful in the

Musketequid region and that certain localities were named after them, as Beaver

hole, Beaver meadows, Beaver pond, and Beaver brook; we learned also that they

were much sought after in trade and that a company was early formed to traffic

in them, and that Simon Willard was at the head of it; we learned, furthermore,

that the Indians valued the fur next to wampum; that it was a rude standard of

value; that court fines were sometimes paid in them; and that they were good if

taken in any month with an R in it.




At

length the sparks ceased, and as our trout were about broiled, having before

listening placed two of nearly a pound weight upon a couple of spits, the

largest, which weighed about three pounds, having been reserved for Parson

Bulkeley, we dined sitting upon the moss among the birds.




We had

hoped and expected from what we had heard to obtain a few salmon and some shad,

but our expectations proved groundless, and showed our ignorance of history;

for although these fishes are abundant in the spawning season at the falls, yet

at other times they are not numerous.




However,

we had no cause to complain, for there was no dearth of other things that were

desirable. The woods were full of brown nuts, rich river grapes hung in

clusters beside the meadows, the ruffed grouse made the woods resound with

their whirring flights, and several wild turkeys crossed our path. We now

concluded to steer straight through the woods to Fairhaven, where the boat was

to stop for us; so, putting up our fishing tackle and carefully extinguishing

the fire, for we had heard that the colonial court had passed a law forbidding

the Indians setting fires in the woods in the fall season, from the great

danger of their spreading, we struck off due east from the dam and soon found

ourselves in a sunny upland which indented the forest like a small estuary in a

sea of grass.




As we

emerged from the low birches on the wood's border we saw not far from us two

Indians, and near them what looked like a large earth oven or a half

underground tomb. One of the Indians was sitting at an aperture at the bottom

and the other was at the top pouring down something, while from the lower

aperture steam was rapidly issuing, nearly enveloping the man who sat near it.

Curiosity prompting our approach we soon found that here was an Indian "sweating

pit," such as we were informed might be connected with every

well-appointed wigwam of a Sagamore (subordinate chief). Within the pit was a

small stone heap, which had been previously heated, and the man at the door was

a patient, who was receiving treatment, while the zealous head of the

sanitarium sat at the summit pouring in water for the purpose of generating

steam.




In broken English everything was explained to us, both

about the process and the cure; and then the Indian, looking at our game, inquired

of our day's hunt, while we in turn, by our inquiries concerning their hunting,

drew forth much interesting information. Among other things we learned that

they seldom stocked up with game until late fall, because, having no salt, they

relied mainly upon the weather as a preservative.




As the subject of food was before us and the Sagamore

noticed that our queries were quite particular, he asked us to visit his

granary, which was another low earth mound of about the dimensions of the

sweating pit. We accepted the invitation. The Indian pulled away some short

poles, which he said were placed there to keep off bears, and we leaned over

and peeked in. Stored snug in every cranny were eatables of various kinds, and

in such quantities as might well explode every theory of Indian improvidence.




There were small pompions (pumpkins), some acorns,

walnuts, a parcel of ground nuts, several strings of dried shad, some split

salmon, a stack of alewives, a pile of raccoon skins (tanned), a huge heap of

corn, and three honey combs. The corn he said his squaw raised, and that the

whole plot upon which it was planted was broken up by her with a stone hoe. He

afterwards showed us a specimen of the hoe, which was a sharp stone fastened to

a handle with a sapling withe. The nuts were gathered jointly, and the fish

were taken by himself, it being no part of a woman's task to take game, she

doing wigwam work or being a field hand. After this last interesting

information our noble friend, for such he appeared to be notwithstanding his

low estimate of a squaw's sphere, inquired after "Big Pray," as he

recognized the parson's fowling piece, and requested us to take a salmon to

him. Upon our assurance that we would gladly do so, he thrust down into his

underground storehouse a sapling pole with a spearpoint, the same, he said,

which he thrust into it when it was captured, and brought up a ten pound fish,

which he deftly rolled and wound with a willow twig for convenient conveyance.

By this time the other Indian, who evidently was much recuperated by his late

treatment, brought pipes; not being a smoker, we refused them, yet the act

showed such friendliness that we ventured to inquire further about their

hunting habits. We learned that the great hunt of the year came in late autumn,

and at a time when a warm, hazy atmosphere made animate nature unusually astir.

In other words, it was intended to be the last warm spell of fall, when the

game captured would keep, and from this fact we were not slow in inferring that

here was the true origin of Indian summer, and that whenever such a

"spell" comes, if sufficiently late, it might be so called. We did

not visit the wigwam, well knowing there was probably nothing new there;

besides, the shadows were lengthening by the birches and the long lines of wild

duck, which are more active toward evening, announced that nightfall was near:

so, while the steam was still issuing from the "sweating pit," we

bade the Indians good-bye. At the bay we found Goodmen Hayward and Barrett, and

in the boat were several turkeys and a small deer, the latter shot not far from

"Gulf brook."




 But a step and we were in; and down the Musketequid we

glided, through the bay, past the hill; and soon on the banks of the south

meadow we saw the lights of several wigwam fires. The night was dark and it

began to rain, for the storm presaged by the morning "weather

breeder" had set in, and swift clouds from the southerly gave a

threatening prospect. It was not long before there loomed a light from

Tahattawan's wigwam at Nashawtuc, which was quite welcome, as it showed we were

nearing home. But we were not to reach it quite as soon as we thought, for

scarcely had we passed the precincts of this last point, when, of; sudden,

Goodman Barrett dropped his paddle and almost fell, as with a shriek he uttered

something about "a sight."




 Quickly

starting up, for we had crouched low to avoid the storm, we saw "the

sight," which consisted of a small luminous ball just over the meadow,

slowly moving and only a few rods ahead of us. Gently shoving the boat towards

the bank beside some water brush we lay low and quietly waited. It was not long

before the strange light vanished, but so thoroughly aroused were we to the

danger of encountering a spook if we proceeded, that we concluded to remain

where we were until the apparition, if such it was, had settled itself. While

we sat with bated breath by the water brush various conjectures were made as to

the cause of the strange "visitation," as our friends called it, and

Goodman Hay ward ventured the suggestion that "as near as he could make

out it was over the 'mort stone' near the Cart bridge by the 'Carsey,' and he

had heerd it was a bad sign to set a 'cops' down anywhere after it was started,

and this was done with John Heald's 'cops' when they stopped the bier at the

'mort stone' to keep the 'buryin' cloth on."




 But

Goodman Barrett did not think so, "for," he said, "Mort stones

wus made on purpose to set copses on when the bearers got tired of carryin 'em:

besides, John wus everybody's friend, and it wus not likely that his sperit

would haunt the medder-land." As for myself, I did not know. I had heard

somewhere and sometime of strange lights called "Will-o'-the-wisp,"

but I had never seen one and was not sure, so I kept still; and as Goodmen

Barrett and Hayward thought we had better leave the boat and go to the manse

across-lots, I acceded, and we were soon ashore.




It was

but a short walk that took us from the landing place to a point where we got a

glimpse of the friendly light gleaming out of the little manse window, and,

perhaps, the distance appeared less because of our haste, for as the darkness

deepened and the pelting storm increased, we hardly looked backward or

sideways, except to take a furtive glance toward the "mort stone"

when we crossed the mill dam. On arriving indoors, however, all was cheerful.




Our wet

doublets (thick, sleeveless jackets), were thrown aside, and having dried our

clothes by the welcome blaze of Parson Bulkeley's bright fire, we were soon

seated upon the oaken settle regaling ourselves with a posset (porringer) of

hulled maize and goat's milk, in pleasant anticipation of a proposed talk on

the town meeting, which was to take place on the morrow.




In

preparation for the neighbors who were to convene for the evening's conference,

the parson had brought in an extra settle from the room adjoining and placed an

armchair at the hearth's corner 


















 




CHAPTER VI.




Informal

Talk Preparatory to Town Meeting — The Apparition — Exodus of Concord Settlers

to Connecticut — Statement of Rev. Cotton Mather — Effect of the Exodus on the

Laity — The Town Meeting.




 




IN the

short space of time before the first arrival not much was said of the ordinary

day's happenings, for all the talk was on the episode closing.




That we

had seen something strange no one doubted, but, it was said, "sich things

have been obsarved before," and that this was similar to that seen by

Goody Bateman at "Cedar Croft" and by Prudence Ball up at the

"bend." That it prognosticated evil, however, was not thought

probable by the Parson, to whom all looked in this matter, as in every other,

for sound counsel and safe solutions, because on other similar occasions

nothing had happened out of the ordinary, except that shortly after Goody

Bateman's discovery the Pequod war broke out; but there were other signs about

that time, such as sounds over the trees, and the pale flashings of a luminous

night mist, and a sickly look of the sun, which latter, however, some were

venturesome enough to assert was caused by a dry spell. With these various

conjectures as to the cause, the subject was dismissed after a few practical

remarks by the pastor about the proper way of improving all strange and

inexplicable phenomena.




When the

company had assembled we saw that not all were present whom history informs us

were early at the plantation. Among those absent were Elder John Jones, Goodman

Middlebrook, two of the Wheelers, and some others. Both personal interest and

curiosity prompted us to inquire the cause of this; but as Goodman Hayward when

on the boat had intimated that some families had gone away and that there had

been discord in the new township, we kept still, thinking that when the sparks

snapped they might tell us. But as there was just then burning on the back log

only some small split spruce which came from the Parson's mill meadow swamp,

the sparks could say nothing about it.




Presently

someone brought in an armful of cleft chestnut, which we were informed was cut

at Simon Willard's at Nashawtuc and came from a clump of trees in his clearing,

beneath which the faithful pastor and his beloved parishioner, Mr. Willard, had

often held sweet but sad converse on town affairs. As the wood was thrown on

the "cob irons" and began to crackle and glow, while Jude Farwell

puffed at it lustily with a small pair of buff colored bellows, we knew we

should soon hear something, since it is characteristic of chestnut-wood to snap

freely. Nor were we wrong in our conjecture, for as the coals brightened the

sparks snapped, and we eagerly caught the following: There had been an exodus

and a sad one. Some of the original grantees had died. Mary, the wife of James

Hosmer, was buried December 3, 1641; Joseph Meriam died January, 1640; and

Jane, the wife of Timothy Wheeler, died in December, 1642. But other causes

besides death had broken the ranks. Several had returned to old England; some

had gone to settlements near the sea; and in October, 1644, about one-eighth

part of the Concord colony followed Elder John Jones to Fairfield, Conn. Of

course, curiosity was aroused to know the cause of this last removal; but as

before intimated, we surmised that the subject might be a delicate one, and

that some present might be sensitive to any inquiries we might make concerning

it.




But soon

the sparks snapped out more vigorously than ever, and the inference from them

was very direct and clear that it was not alone the "badness and wetness

of the meadows" or the "poverty and meanness of the soil" that

caused all the trouble, but an inharmonious mixture of too much ruling Elder

with a proper amount of teaching Elder; so that it was difficult to tell where

the authority of the latter began and that of the former ended. This position

of the sparks was confirmed in our minds by Cotton Mather, author of the

"Magnolia," who stated that "difficulties arose between the

minister and people at Concord, which were settled by calling a council after

the abdication of one of them," that is, one of the ecclesiastics; and,

also, "that upon Mr. Bulkeley's pressing a piece of charity disagreeable

to the will of the ruling Elder there was occasioned an unhappy discord in the

church of Concord," and the same thing is also implied in a letter of Rev.

Peter Bulkeley to Rev. Thomas Shepherd of Cambridge, in which he asks his

opinion as to the relative power of the ruling Elder and the pastor; and also

in a letter of Mr. Bulkeley to Cotton Mather, when he hints about "The

evil of the times we live in, and what mischief one lofty spirit that has

reputation for understanding can do among the weak."
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